STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

RECEIVED

02-14-2019

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2017 AP000741-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JAVIEN CAJUJUAN PEGEESE,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and Written Order Denying the Postconviction Motion Entered in the Rock County Circuit Court, the Honorable John M. Wood, Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

> THOMAS B. AQUINO Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1066516

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-1971 aquinot@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Whether the circuit circuit's failure to personally ensure that Pegeese understood each constitutional right waived by his guilty plea entitled Pegeese to a  $Bangert^1$  evidentiary hearing to determine whether his plea was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary.

How the lower courts ruled. Both the circuit court and the court of appeals held that that the plea judge's reference to the constitutional rights section of a plea questionnaire signed by Pegeese satisfied the judge's duty to "address the defendant personally and ... inform the defendant of the constitutional rights he waives by entering a plea and verify that the defendant understands he is giving up these rights." *State v. Brown*, 2006 WI 100, ¶35, 293 Wis. 2d 594, 716 N.W.2d 906.

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument and publication are customary in cases heard by this court.

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$  State v. Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 257, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## I. Introduction

In this day and age, for most criminal defendants the proverbial "day in court" is a plea hearing. To help ensure that a defendant's plea is knowing, intelligent, and voluntary, as due process demands, both the legislature and this court charge the trial court with advising defendants of various consequences of their decision to enter a plea. *State v. Brown*, 2006 WI 100, ¶35, 293 Wis. 2d 594, 716 N.W.2d 906; Wis. Stat. § 971.08. Among these obligations is a duty to "address the defendant personally and ... inform the defendant of the constitutional rights he waives by entering a plea and verify that the defendant understands he is giving up these rights." *Id.* at ¶35.

The question before the Court is whether this duty to "inform and verify" applies to *each* constitutional right given up by a plea, or whether it suffices that the judge verifies that the defendant signed a piece of paper that includes a description of each right. The rules governing plea colloquys in the federal courts and the courts of 42 states require judges to advise defendants of each right waived before accepting a plea. (*See infra* Argument Section I.A.).

Wisconsin law arguably requires judges to likewise "inform and verify" each constitutional right waived by a plea. This Court has held that a "Plea Questionnaire" signed by the defendant cannot

generally substitute for the plea colloquy, State v. Hoppe, 2009 WI 41, ¶38, 317 Wis. 2d 161, 182, 765 N.W.2d 794, 804, and that reliance on a statement in the Questionnaire or the attorney's representations cannot satisfy the court's duty to ensure the defendant understands that the court is not bound by a plea bargain, State v. Hampton, 2004 WI 107, ¶69, 274 Wis. 2d 379, 392, 683 N.W.2d 14, 20, and understands the nature of the charge, Brown, 2006 WI 100, ¶56. However, earlier cases held that the plea judge may "refer to some portion of the record or communication between defense counsel and defendant" the that demonstrates defendant's requisite knowledge. Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d at 270–72. As a consequence, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals has sometimes held that the plea judge must inform the defendant of each right waived by the plea, and other times has held that reference to the plea questionnaire sufficed. (See infra Argument Section I.C.).

Pegeese asks this Court to explicitly bring Wisconsin in line with the vast majority of courts in our country, and set a clear rule requiring plea judges to inform the defendant of each right waived by a plea, and verify that the defendant understands that each right is waived by the plea. As a practical matter, this will reduce the amount of postconviction litigation over whether the defendant understood his or her rights. Judges will have an opportunity to suss out the defendants who do not understand each right *before* they enter a plea, thus reducing the number of defendants who later seek to withdraw their plea because they genuinely did not understand their rights. More importantly, it will respect the enormity of the decision to plead guilty and the significance of the constitutional rights waived by the plea. *McCarthy v. United States*, 394 U.S. 459, 466 (1969).

Even if the Court does not hold that the duty to "inform and verify" applies to each individual constitutional right, here the plea judge did not sufficiently incorporate the constitutional rights section of the plea questionnaire during the plea colloquy to ensure that Pegeese understood his rights. The court separately asked whether Pegeese understood the plea questionnaire and understood the constitutional rights he was waiving, but did not ask if he understood the constitutional rights *in* the plea questionnaire. (*See infra* Argument Section II).

## II. Factual Background

On June 24, 2015, the state filed a criminal complaint charging Pegeese with armed robbery as a party to a crime. Wis. Stats. §§ 943.32(2) and 939.05. (1). The complaint alleged that on April 24, 2015, three people came up to a pizza deliveryman, and that one of the three struck the deliveryman in the side of the head with a pistol and took money from his pocket. (1:1). Police spoke with the person who owned the phone that ordered the pizza, and she said that Pegeese was not at her house when the pizza was ordered. (1:2). However, she did overhear Pegeese and another person talking the next day about how one of them "pistol-whipped" the deliveryman. (1:2). Pegeese turned 16 years old in February 2015, approximately two months before the robbery. (1).

Two months after he was charged, and when he was still just 16 years old, Pegeese pled guilty to robbery with threat of force as party to a crime. Wis. Stats. § 943.32(1)(b). (45). At the same hearing, the court withheld sentencing Pegeese and imposed three years of probation. (14; 45:11; App. 107).

Pegeese filed a postconviction motion requesting plea withdrawal on the grounds that the circuit court failed to explain, and he did not understand, the constitutional rights waived by his plea, specifically his rights to: (1) remain silent or testify, (2) use subpoenas to require witnesses to testify, (3) have a jury trial where all 12 jurors have to agree on guilt, (4) confront and cross-examine people who testify against him, and (5) make the state prove him guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. (31:2).

The entirety of the plea colloquy concerning Pegeese's constitutional rights was as follows:

Court:	You have provided me today with a Plea Agreement and Waiver of Rights document; correct?
Pegeese:	Yes, sir.
Court:	That's your signature on the back side?
Pegeese:	Yes, sir.

Court:	Did you read that document before you signed it?		
Pegeese:	Yes, sir.		
Court:	Do you understand all the statements made in that document?		
Pegeese:	Yes, sir.		
Court:	Any questions about anything in that document?		
Pegeese:	No, sir.		
Court:	Mr. Hoag, you reviewed the Plea Questionnaire with him?		
Mr. Hoag:	I read it to him, Your Honor.		
Court:	Do you believe he understands it?		
Mr. Hoag:	I do.		
Court:	Mr. Pageese [ <i>sic</i> ], do you understand the Constitutional Rights you give up when you enter a plea today?		
Pegeese:	Yes, sir.		
Court:	Any questions about those rights?		
Pegeese:	No, sir.		

(45:3-4; App. 111-112).

Pegeese's postconviction motion explained that he was 16 years old when he entered his plea, and that he had completed only the  $10^{\text{th}}$  grade and had not received a GED or HSED. (31:6). In addition, he had never entered a plea in adult court before he entered this plea. (31:6). The motion requested an evidentiary hearing pursuant to *State v. Bangert*, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 257, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986). (31:7). The circuit court held that Pegeese failed to make a prima facie case that the plea colloquy was defective, and thus an evidentiary hearing was not necessary. (47:23; App. 114). The court reasoned there was no need for the court to separately review each constitutional right because the defendant and trial attorney stated at the plea hearing they went through the plea questionnaire form and Pegeese said he did not need more time to talk to his attorney. (47:25-26; App. 116-117). The court also found Pegeese's assertion that he did not understand his constitutional rights when he entered his plea insufficient because he did not attach an affidavit alleging the same. (47:23; App. 114).

The court of appeals upheld the circuit court's decision. The court held that even though the circuit court did not explicitly refer to the constitutional rights set out in the plea questionnaire, in context the court was referring to the form. (App. 102-103, ¶¶5-8). In addition, it rejected Pegeese's argument that the circuit court was obliged to inform Pegeese of each constitutional right waived by the plea. (App. 104-105,  $\P$  10-17). The court of appeals did not address the circuit court's alternative holding that Pegeese was obliged to include an affidavit supporting the postconviction motion.

Pegeese filed a petition for review that this court granted on January 15, 2019.

#### ARGUMENT

- I. The plea judge's failure to (1) inform Pegeese of each of his constitutional rights and (2) verify that he understood each would be waived by his plea entitled Pegeese to a *Bangert* hearing.
  - A. The applicable rules for the federal courts and forty-two states require judges to advise defendants of each constitutional right waived by a plea.

The Supreme Court has long recognized that a guilty "plea simultaneously waives several constitutional rights, including [the] privilege against compulsory self-incrimination, [the] right to trial by jury, and [the] right to confront ... accusers." *McCarthy v. United States*, 394 U.S. 459, 465-466, n. 11 & 16 (1969) (collecting cases). The Due Process clause requires that these waivers be "voluntary and knowing." *Id.* 

With this backdrop, the Supreme Court explained in *McCarthy* why Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure required the court "to address the defendant personally" before accepting the plea: "By personally interrogating the defendant, not only will the judge be better able to ascertain the plea's voluntariness, but he also will develop a more complete record to support his determination in a subsequent post-conviction attack." 394 U.S. at 466.

The same year that it decided *McCarthy*, the Supreme Court addressed a state court's failure to

that defendant understood the ensure а constitutional rights waived by a guilty plea. The court reversed the defendant's conviction, holding that "[w]e cannot presume a waiver of these ... important federal rights from a silent record." Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 243-244 (1969). "What is at stake for an accused facing death or imprisonment demands the utmost solicitude of which courts are capable in canvassing the matter with the accused to make sure he has a full understanding of what the plea connotes and of its consequence." Id.

The *Boykin* decision prompted amendment of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure to specifically require the district court to inform the defendant of each right waived by a plea. Fed. R. Crim. P. 11, Advisory Committee Notes, 1974 Amendments. The current version of Rule 11 requires federal district courts to "address the defendant personally in open court" and "inform the defendant of, and determine that the defendant understands" the following (among other consequences of a plea):

- "the right to plead not guilty, or having already so pleaded, to persist in that plea."
- "the right to a jury trial."
- "the right to be represented by counsel-and if necessary have the court appoint counsel--at trial and at every other stage of the proceeding."

- "the right at trial to confront and crossexamine adverse witnesses, to be protected from compelled selfincrimination, to testify and present evidence, and to compel the attendance of witnesses."
- "the defendant's waiver of these trial rights if the court accepts a plea of guilty or nolo contendere."

## Fed. R. Crim. P. 11(b)(1)(B)-(F).

The vast majority of the states have followed the federal court's example. Thirty states have adopted a statute or rule of criminal procedure requiring the plea judge to advise the defendant of each constitutional right waived by the plea.<sup>2</sup> The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ala. R. Crim. P. 14.4 (Alabama); Alaska R. Crim. P. 11 (Alaska); Ark. R. Crim. P. 24.4 (Arkansas); Col. R. Crim. P. 5(a)(2) & 11 (Colorado); Conn. Practice Book § 39-19 (Connecticut); Del. Super. Ct. Crim. R. 11 (Delaware); Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.172 (Florida); Ga. Unif. Super. Ct. R. 33.8 (Georgia); I.C.R. 11 (Idaho); ILCS S. Ct. Rule 402 (Illinois); Ind. Code Ann. § 35-35-1-2 (Indiana); Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.8 (Iowa); La. Code Crim. Proc. Ann. art. 556.1 (Louisiana); Me. R. Crim. P. 11 (Maine); Mass. R. Crim. P. 12 (Massachusetts); MCR 6.302 (Michigan); Minn. R. Crim. P. 15.01 & 15.02 (Minnesota); Miss. R. Crim. P. 15.3(d)(3) (Mississippi); Mo. Sup. Ct. R. 24.02 (Missouri); Mont. Code Ann. § 46-12-210 (Montana); N.C. Gen. Stat. Ann. § 15A-1022 (North Carolina); N.D. R. Crim. P. 11 (North Dakota); Ohio Crim. R. 11 (Ohio); Or. Rev. Stat. § 135.385 (Oregon); S.D. Codified Laws § 23A-7-4 (South Dakota); Tenn. R. Crim. P. 11 (Tennessee); Utah. R. Crim. P. 11 (Utah); Vt. R. Crim. P. 11 (Vermont); W. Va. R. Crim. P. 11 (West Virginia); Wyo. R. Crim. P. 11 (Wyoming).

courts in twelve other states have mandated that plea judges advise defendants of each constitutional right, based on the court's interpretation of a state statute or rule, the court's interpretation of *Boykin*, the court's supervisory role, or as some combination of the three.<sup>3</sup> The courts in only seven states have held there is no duty for the colloquy judge to go over each constitutional right waived by a plea, or appear to have not yet reached the question.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> State v. Levario, 577 P.2d 712 (Ari. 1978) (partly defining "constitutional rights" language in Ariz. R. Crim. P. 17.2); People v. Cross, 347 P.3d 1130, 1132 (Cal. 2015) (California); State v. Solomon, 111 P.3d 12, 23 (Haw. 2005) (Hawai'i); State v. Anziana, 840 P.2d 550, 552 (Kan. 1992) (reading specific constitutional rights into statutory "consequences of plea" language) (Kansas); Edmonds v. Com., 189 S.W.3d 558, 565 (Ky. 2006) (Kentucky); State v. Irish, 394 N.W.2d 879, 883 (Neb. 1986) (Nebraska); Richard v. MacAskill, 529 A.2d 898, 900 (N.H. 1987) (New Hampshire); State ex rel. T.M., 765 A.2d 735, 739-740, 744 (N.J. 2001) (New Jersey); State v. Garcia, 915 P.2d 300, 303 (N.M. 1996) (New Mexico); King v. State, 553 P.2d 529, 534–35 (Okla 1976) (Oklahoma); Pa. R. Crim. P. 590 and Commonwealth v. Willis, 369 A.2d 1189 (Pa. 1977) (Pennsylvania); Zigta v. Com., 562 S.E.2d 347, 350-51 (Va. App. 2002) (citing Form 6 of the Rules of the Virginia Supreme Court, which enumerates individual constitutional rights).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Gross v. State, 973 A.2d 895, 914 (Md. App 2009) (Maryland); State v. Freese, 13 P.3d 442, 448 (Nev. 2000) (Nevada); People v. Tyrell, 4 N.E.3d 346, 351 (N.Y. 2013) (New York); State v. Feng, 421 A.2d 1258, 1269 (R.I. 1980) (Rhode Island); Roddy v. State, 528 S.E.2d 418, 421 (S.C. 2000) (South Carolina); Gardner v. State, 164 S.W.3d 393, 399 (Tex. Crim. App. 2005) (Texas); Wood v. Morris, 554 P.2d 1032 (Wash. 1976) (Washington).

B. The history of a plea judge's duties in Wisconsin.

The Wisconsin rules covering a judge's duties at a plea colloquy, and the consequences for not following them, have taken a number of twists and turns since *Boykin*.

Two years after Boykin, the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that there was no automatic right to withdraw a guilty plea if the court had not reviewed each right "seriatim," so long as the defendant did actually know the constitutional rights being waived. Edwards v. State, 51 Wis. 2d 231, 235, 186 N.W.2d 193, 195 (1971). "If a defendant knows the constitutional rights which are automatically waived by a plea of guilty, the plea cannot be invalidated on the ground that each of these constitutional rights were not specifically waived as such on the record." The court pointed to Edwards' long criminal record, as well as his failure to claim that he did not understand the constitutional rights being waived. 51 Wis. 2d at 235-236.

In 1983, the supreme court held that the defendant was entitled to withdraw his plea because "[t]here was no affirmative showing that the defendant was apprised of his privilege against self-incrimination and his right to confront and cross-examine witnesses against him, or that he knew that those rights would be waived by a plea of guilty." *State v. Bartelt*, 112 Wis. 2d 467, 485, 334 N.W.2d 91,

99 (1983). Neither the court nor defense counsel had explained these rights to the defendant.

Then, in 1985, the court "conclude[d] that in reviewing the constitutional validity of a guilty plea, the reviewing court may only look to the plea hearing transcript itself to determine whether the defendant possessed a constitutionally sufficient understanding of the nature of the charge." *State v. Cecchini*, 124 Wis. 2d 200, 210, 368 N.W.2d 830, 836 (1985). Because the plea judge had failed to properly advise the defendant of the nature of the charge, the defendant was entitled to withdraw his plea.

It only took one year for the supreme court to modify its holdings in *Cecchini* and *Bartelt* (among others), with its decision in *State v. Bangert*, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 257, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986). The prior cases were overruled to the extent that they suggested there was a *constitutional* requirement that the plea judge make specific admonitions before accepting a plea, and that a failure to abide by the requirements mandated plea withdrawal. Instead, the court held that there is a set of six *statutory* duties to inform the defendant of various consequences of the plea. *Bangert*, 131 Wis. 2d at 261-262 (*citing* Wis. Stat. § 971.08).

The *Bangert* court also held that the court's failure to fulfill each duty did not entitle the defendant to automatic plea withdrawal. However, if there was a defect in the colloquy, and the defendant alleged that he or she did not understand the

corresponding consequence of the plea, the defendant would be entitled to an evidentiary hearing at which it would be the state's burden to prove with clear and convincing evidence that despite the defects, the defendant's plea was nonetheless knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. 131 Wis. 2d at 274-275.

In addition to describing the statutory duties of a plea judge, the *Bangert* court exercised its "supervisory powers" to impose a "seventh" duty on plea judges, namely to determine that the defendant knows and understands the constitutional rights waived by a plea. To fulfill this duty, the court must either:

> follow the provisions set forth in Wis. JI-Criminal SM-32 (1985), Part V, Waiver of Constitutional Rights, or specifically refer to some portion of the record or communication between defense counsel and defendant which affirmatively exhibits defendant's knowledge of the constitutional rights he will be waiving. The court must then, as before, ascertain whether the defendant understands he will be waiving certain constitutional rights by virtue of his guilty or no contest plea.

Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d at 270-72.

The special materials referred to by the *Bangert* court set out a detailed script to ensure that a defendant understands the rights waived by a plea:

By pleading guilty you admit that you committed the crime and, thus, you relieve the state of proving at a trial that you committed the crime, and by pleading guilty you also waive-that is, you give up-important constitutional rights.

"First, you give up your right to have the state prove that you committed each element of the crime. The state must convince each member of the jury beyond a reasonable doubt that you committed the crime. Do you understand that?

You have a constitutional right not to incriminate yourself, which means, you have a right not to admit to a crime, not to say anything that will subject you to a criminal penalty. By pleading guilty you waive this privilege not to incriminate yourself, and if the court accepts your plea of guilty, you will be convicted and the court can impose sentence against you.

Do you understand that?

You have a constitutional right to be tried by a jury. If your plea of guilty is accepted by the court, you will not be tried by a jury. That is, you will waive-give up-a jury trial.

Do you understand that?

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