### RECEIVED

### STATE OF WISCONSIN 03-06-2019

## IN SUPREME COUR PLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2017AP741-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JAVIEN CAJUJUAN PEGEESE,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS AFFIRMING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN ROCK COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE RICHARD T. WERNER AND THE HONORABLE JOHN M. WOOD PRESIDING

## BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

AARON R. O'NEIL Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041818

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

The State notes, though, that it discussed all of these cases in its response to Pegeese's petition for review. It argued that the cases were all consistent with the rule the State has articulated in this brief. (State's response to petition for review 6–9.) The parties properly discussed the uncitable cases in the petition for review and response because Pegeese was relying on them to support his argument that the law was unclear. See State v. Higginbotham, 162 Wis. 2d 978, 997–98, 471 N.W.2d 24 (1991).

The two citable cases that Pegeese relies on are also consistent with the rule the State has articulated.

Pegeese contends that in State Lopez, υ. 2010 WI App 153, 330 Wis. 2d 487, 792 N.W.2d 199, the court of appeals held that a plea colloguy was defective when the circuit court did not explain Lopez's rights to him. (Pegeese's Br. 21–22.) The court of appeals noted that the circuit court "merely confirmed that Lopez had signed and understood the questionnaire and the rights therein." 330 Wis. 2d 487, ¶ 3.

It is not clear, though, that the circuit court actually referred to Lopez's rights during the colloquy or asked him if he understood them. Again, that is the "subtle, but important requirement" that is crucial to making the colloquy substantive. *Hansen*, 168 Wis. 2d at 756.

Later in its opinion, the court described the colloquy as deficient because the circuit court "merely ask[ed] Lopez whether he had read the plea questionnaire and understood its contents." *Lopez*, 330 Wis. 2d 487, ¶ 10. The court did not say in this part of the opinion whether the circuit court had asked Lopez if he understood the rights he was waiving. Further, according to the fact section in Lopez's brief, the circuit court

did not mention his constitutional rights at all during the colloquy. (See State v. Lopez, No. 2009AP2727-CR, Brief of Defendant-Appellant at 4, available at <a href="https://bit.ly/2L8npwh">https://bit.ly/2L8npwh</a>.) Thus, it appears that the colloquy in Lopez was insufficient because the court never mentioned Lopez's rights or asked whether he understood them.

The court's opinion in State υ. Harris.No. 2012AP518-CR, 2012 WL 3966446 (Wis. Ct. App. Sept. 12, 2012) (unpublished), is also consistent with the State's articulation of the law. (Pegeese's Pet. 8; Pet. App. 133–36; R-App. 101–04.) There, the circuit court, after determining that Harris went over the plea questionnaire with his attorney, "confirmed that Harris understood the constitutional rights on the form and that by pleading guilty he was giving up those . . . rights." Harris, 2012 WL 3966446, ¶ 8. (Pet. App. 134; R-App. 102.) The court of appeals held that this was an adequate colloquy. Harris, 2012 WL3966446, 9 (Pet. App. 134; R-App. 102.)

Pegeese notes that the circuit court in *Harris* did not personally mention each right when taking the plea. (Pegeese's Br. 22.) But as argued, that is not required. *Harris* thus is consistent with the State's interpretation of the law.

Third, Pegeese points out that many states and the federal court system require courts by rule to inform the defendant of the rights being waived by a plea. (Pegeese's Br. 8–11.) Some of the states' rules, though, permit use of forms or other sources to assist the court in ensuring valid pleas. See Ala. R. Crim. P. 14.4(d) (form); Ga. Unif. Super. Ct. R. 33.8(D) (information may come from court, prosecutor, defense counsel, or combination); Idaho Crim. R. 11(e) (form); Ind. Code. Ann. § 35-35-1-2(b) (form can be used in misdemeanor pleas); Mich. Ct. R. 6.302(5) (form); Minn. R. Crim. P. 15.01(1)(6) (court must ensure counsel has informed defendant of rights and defendant understands them); Mont. Code Ann. § 46-12-21(2) (written

acknowledgement). Thus, not all of these states require courts to personally explain to defendants the rights that they are waiving.

## 2. Pegeese's remaining reasons for imposing the requirement are not persuasive.

This Court should also reject Pegeese's "practical and principled" arguments in support of his proposal. (Pegeese's Br. 22.)

Pegeese contends that requiring courts to review a defendant's constitutional rights at the plea hearing will lead to fewer postconviction claims that defendants did not understand their rights. (Pegeese's Br. 23.) He notes that some defendants might feel pressured to enter a plea, which could lead them to do so without fully understanding their rights. (Pegeese's Br. 23.) Reviewing the rights in court, Pegeese contends, will provide defendants the chance to get clarification if needed. (Pegeese's Br. 23.)

A circuit court's listing the defendant's rights in person is not, though, the cure-all that Pegeese claims that it is. If a plea questionnaire is used, a defendant will have already reviewed and discussed his constitutional rights with defense counsel. And the court—by making sure the defendant understood what is on the form—already gives defendants the opportunity to ask questions or get clarification.

In addition, the State suspects that Pegeese's proposal will not substantially reduce claims that a defendant did not understand the constitutional rights he waived. If defendants are willing to disavow their statements to the court that they understood the rights on the plea questionnaire, why would they be any less willing to do the same for their acknowledgements that they understood the court's in-person explanation? In any event, this Court should not be crafting

new plea-colloquy requirements based upon speculation about a reduced number of claims. The Court's focus should be on whether a defendant's constitutional rights are already met by existing law. And they are.

Pegeese also argues that informing defendants of their rights will give judges and attorneys a better opportunity to determine whether the defendant truly understands those rights. (Pegeese's Br. 23.) But again, the court and the prosecutor already have the ability to do this during the colloquy. And if defense counsel used a plea questionnaire, counsel should have a firm understanding by the time of the colloquy whether the defendant knows his rights.

Next, Pegeese claims that his proposal will make the law clear. (Pegeese's Br. 24.) But as the State has argued, the law is already clear. And if this Court agrees with the State's interpretation of the case law, it can use its opinion in this case to clear up any ambiguity that might exist.

Finally, Pegeese argues that reviewing the rights in court will add just a minute or two to the plea colloquy. (Pegeese's Br. 24). This, he claims, is a low price to pay given the amount of time litigating claims of invalid waivers takes in postconviction proceedings and on appeal. (Pegeese's Br. 24.) And he maintains that the gravity of a person's deciding to plead to a crime deserves this procedural protection. (Pegeese's Br. 24–25.)

But again, it is not clear that Pegeese's proposal will reduce litigation or that it is preferable to the use of a plea questionnaire plus a substantive colloquy. The court's observation in *Moederndorfer* is apt: "People can learn as much from reading as listening, and often more." 141 Wis. 2d at 828. "In fact, a defendant's ability to understand the rights being waived may be greater when he or she is given a written form to read in an unhurried

atmosphere, as opposed to reliance upon oral colloquy in a supercharged courtroom setting." *Id.* Some defendants might be better off reading their rights or having counsel explain them than reviewing them in court. That, combined with a substantive colloquy from the court, is sufficient to ensure a valid waiver of those rights.

## D. Even if the Court rejects the State's arguments, Pegeese is not entitled to a *Bangert* hearing.

Should this Court adopt Pegeese's proposal, or if it concludes that the colloquy here did not comply with the State's interpretation of the law, it should nonetheless deny Pegeese a *Bangert* hearing for two similar reasons. First, Pegeese cannot show that the circuit court's colloquy or its not informing him of his rights was a manifest injustice. Second, any error by the court was harmless. Under either analysis, the record shows that Pegeese entered his plea with an understanding of the rights he was waiving. There is no reason to remand for a hearing.

## 1. Not all *Bangert* violations constitute a manifest injustice.

To withdraw a plea after sentencing, a defendant must prove "by clear and convincing evidence" that failure to withdraw the plea will result in a manifest injustice. Taylor, 347 Wis. 2d 30, ¶ 24. A defendant's not knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently enter a plea is one way to prove a manifest injustice. Id.

Not every violation of a Bangert duty amounts to a manifest injustice. If a circuit court fails to comply with a mandatory duty at a plea hearing, a "defendant may be entitled to withdraw his plea." Cross, 326 Wis. 2d 492, ¶ 19 (emphasis added). "The Bangert requirements exist as a

framework to ensure that a defendant knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently enters his plea." Id. ¶ 32. But "requiring an evidentiary hearing for every small deviation from the circuit court's duties during a plea colloquy is simply not necessary for the protection of a defendant's constitutional rights." Id. This Court does "not embrace a formalistic application of the Bangert requirements that would result in the abjuring of a defendant's representation in open court for insubstantial defects." Id.

## 2. The harmless-error doctrine applies to violations of a court's mandatory duties at a plea hearing.

Wisconsin Stat. § 971.26 provides that no criminal judgment or other proceeding shall "be affected by reason of any defect or imperfection in matters of form which do not prejudice the defendant." And the civil harmless-error statute requires the court to "disregard any error or defect in the pleadings or proceedings which shall not affect the substantial rights of the adverse party." Wis. Stat. § 805.18. This statute applies to criminal proceedings. See Wis. Stat. § 973.11(1); State v. Reyes Fuerte, 2017 WI 104, ¶ 28, 378 Wis. 2d 504, 904 N.W.2d 773. The State has the burden of proving that an error is harmless. See State v. Sherman, 2008 WI App 57, ¶ 8, 310 Wis. 2d 248, 750 N.W.2d 500.

This Court and the court of appeals have applied the harmless-error doctrine to violations of a court's mandatory duties at plea hearings. This Court applied it to the circuit court's failure to strictly comply with the immigration warning in Wis. Stat. 971.08(1)(c). Reyes Fuerte, 378 Wis. 2d 504, ¶¶ 30–36. And the court of appeals held in State v. Johnson, 2012 WI App 21, ¶¶ 14–15, 339 Wis. 2d 421, 811 N.W.2d 441, that a court's failure to warn a defendant that it is not bound by the plea agreement can be harmless.

In both cases, the courts determined that because the error was harmless, the defendant was not entitled to a *Bangert* hearing. *Reyes Fuerte*, 378 Wis. 2d 504, ¶ 17; *State v. Reyes Fuerte*, 2016 WI App 78, ¶ 4, 372 Wis. 2d 106, 887 N.W.2d 121 (noting that the circuit court had held a non-evidentiary hearing on the defendant's plea-withdrawal claim); *Johnson*, 339 Wis. 2d 421, ¶¶ 7, 16.

Other jurisdictions that require courts to inform pleading defendants of their rights also hold that violations of the requirement can be harmless. For example, Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 11(b)(1)(B)–(F) requires district courts to inform pleading defendants of their constitutional rights. But subsection (h) of the rule says that "[a] variance from the requirements of this rule is harmless error if it does not affect substantial rights." See also Reyes Fuerte, 378 Wis. 2d 504, ¶ 35; Cross, 326 Wis. 2d 492, ¶ 36 (both noting Rule 11(h)). In addition, several states that have required courts by rule to inform defendants of their constitutional rights have harmless-error provisions in their rules. See, e.g., Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.172(j); La. Code Crim. P. Ann. Art. 556.1.E; N.D. R. Crim P. 11 (explanatory note) and R. 52; Utah R. Crim. P. 11(l); W. Va. R. Crim. P. 11(h); Wyo. R. Crim. P. 11(h).

3. Pegeese is not entitled to a hearing because he cannot show prove a manifest injustice; in addition, any error by the circuit court was harmless.

If this Court enacts Pegeese's rule, or if it concludes that the court's colloquy here did not comply with the State's interpretation of the law, it should not remand for a *Bangert* hearing. The record shows that Pegeese was aware of and understood his constitutional rights when he entered his plea. Pegeese cannot show that the court's colloquy or its not informing him of his rights led to a manifest injustice. And any error by the circuit court was harmless.

A hearing that might result in Pegeese's withdrawing his plea is not necessary to correct a manifest injustice. Importantly, the circuit court cannot have violated a clear duty to inform Pegeese of his constitutional rights if no such duty existed at the time of the plea hearing. Pegeese is asking this Court to adopt such a requirement now. (Pegeese's Br. 22–25.) He contends that case law is not clear on the court's obligations. Thus, the court's failure to inform Pegeese of his rights was, at the time it happened, not a *Bangert* violation and should not potentially lead to plea withdrawal.

Pegeese also cannot show a manifest injustice because the record shows that he validly waived his constitutional rights. Even if the court's colloquy did not strictly comply with case law, it was sufficient to show that Pegeese understood his rights and that he was waiving them. The plea questionnaire listed his rights. (R. 12:1.) Pegeese signed the questionnaire and, by doing so, admitted that he reviewed and understood its contents. (R. 12:2.) He also told the court these things in person. (R. 45:3–4.) The court's only error, if there was one, was not specifically asking Pegeese if the rights he was waiving were the ones listed on the plea questionnaire form. But as the court of appeals explained, it is unreasonable to understand the court to have been referring to any other rights than those on the form. *Pegeese*, No. 2017AP741-CR, ¶¶ 5–9; (Pet. App. 102–04.)

Thus, giving Pegeese a hearing is not necessary to correct a manifest injustice. The record shows that he validly waived his constitutional rights despite any possible error by the circuit court. It is inappropriate to give Pegeese a hearing where he would repudiate what he told the circuit court in person and on the plea questionnaire when those same things refute his claim that his plea was invalid. *See Cross*,

326 Wis. 2d 492, ¶ 32; see also Wozny v. Grams, 539 F.3d 605, 609-10 (7th Cir. 2008).

Alternatively, but for the same reasons, any error by the court was harmless. Again, the court's failure, if there was one, was that its colloquy did not comply with existing case law. The court could not have violated Pegeese's proposed requirement that courts personally inform defendants of their rights because it was not the law at the time.

Further, any error by the court did not affect Pegeese's substantial rights. The plea questionnaire indicates that he understood his rights and was giving them up by entering his plea. He told the court that he signed, read, and understood the form. Even if the circuit court should have specifically said that it was referring to the rights listed on the questionnaire, the record still shows that Pegeese knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently waived his rights.

Decisions of the Seventh Circuit's support the State's position. The court has held that a district court's failure to comply with a requirement of Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 11 when accepting a plea is harmless under Rule 11(h) when the written plea agreement fulfills the omitted duty. See United States v. Driver, 242 F.3d 767, 771 (7th Cir. 2001); United States v. Cross, 57 F.3d 588, 591 (7th Cir. 1995). In particular, the court has determined that the failure to advise a defendant of some of his constitutional rights was harmless when he "executed a written plea agreement acknowledging these rights and the other trial rights he waived by pleading guilty." See United States v. Beason, 493 Fed. Appx 747, 748 (7th Cir. 2012). This Court should

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Several states also recognize that violations of a rule requiring courts to explain constitutional rights to pleading defendants are not reversible error unless the defendant is

reach the same conclusion. Any error by the circuit court in obtaining Pegeese's waiver of rights is harmless. Pegeese should not get a *Bangert* hearing.

#### CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the decision of the court of appeals.